

Retirement Expectations in the Netherlands

Boumans, Marijn

Citation

Boumans, M. (2021). Retirement Expectations in the Netherlands.

Version:	Not Applicable (or Unknown)
License:	<u>License to inclusion and publication of a Bachelor or Master thesis in</u> <u>the Leiden University Student Repository</u>
Downloaded from:	https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3484655

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).



Universiteit Leiden

Master Thesis Public Administration: Economics & Governance

Retirement Expectations in the Netherlands

Student Student number Supervisor

Date

Marijn Boumans Dyslexia s1867563 Dr. J. Been June 2021



©mscott

Abstract

This study discusses the effect of changes in retirement policy on expected retirement behavior of individual people. Using the panel dataset LISS from 2011 to 2019 in a fixed effect regression model, we see a highly statistically significant positive effect of a change in statutory retirement age on the expected retirement age. For people between 45 and 61 years old, their expected retirement age increases when the statutory retirement age is increased. Looking for heterogenous effect in different subgroups, the effect remains similar, indicating a robust result. Next to a change in the statutory retirement age, having a partner also influences the expected retirement age. Taking into account these factors, if the government wants to increase her financial sustainability, an increase in the statutory retirement age will lead to a decrease in the old-age dependency ratio, and thus achieving the expected result.

Key words: Retirement; Old-Age dependency ratio; Pension systems; Statutory Retirement Age; Expected Retirement Age; Policy Reforms; The Netherlands; Financial Sustainability

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Mr. Jim Been. Even though, we did not meet in person during the writing process due to the Covid-19 pandemic, using Microsoft Teams was a great alternative. You helped me in the process of deciding on the subject of the thesis, to structure my thesis and during my struggles with Stata. I also want to thank you for your flexibility, the fun during the supervise sessions and your quick responding to my questions via mail. I have been very lucky with you as my supervisor.

Secondly, I want to thank my family for their endless support. A special thanks for my sister Maxime and my parents John and Vivianne. Thank you, sis, for the proof-readings, grammar improvements and your ability to read so many pages about a topic you are not really interested in. Thank you, dad, for the proof-readings and our endless discussions about when you are able to retire or want to retire. And lastly thank you, mom, for your love and support during the writing process!

Lastly, I want to thank my friends. It was a rough time, being able to go to 'live' class only once a week during the first semester, and a second semester which was entirely online. Even though this was not how we planned our Master education, I loved the great discussions online and offline. Off to a great future!

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	3
1. INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 Research Question and Motivation	7
1.2 Relevance	
1.3 Thesis outline	
2. SYSTEMS	
2.1 PENSION SYSTEMS	
2.2 Dutch Pension System	
2.3 PENSION SYSTEM REFORMS	
3. THEORY	23
3.1 LIFE CYCLE MODEL	
3.2 Expectations and LCM	
3.3 (Retirement) Expectations and influences	
3.4 Retirement decision	
3.4.1 Labor Market Choices	
3.4.1.1 Substitution effect	27
3.4.1.2 Incomes effect	
3.4.2 Financial Literacy	
3.4.3 Health	
3.4.4 Economic Status	

3.4.5 Social interaction	
3.5 Hypothesis	
4. RESEARCH DESIGN	
4.1 Fixed Effects Regression Model	
4.2 DATA COLLECTION	
5. ANALYSIS	
5.1 Operationalization	
5.1.1 Sample	
5.1.2 Measures	
5.1.3 Additional variables	
5.2 Descriptive Results	40
5.3 Empirical Strategy	
6. RESULTS	45
6.1 MAIN RESULTS	
6.2 Additional results	
6.2.1. Gender	
6.2.2 Education level	
6.2.3 Dutch or Migration Background	
6.3 INTERPRETATION OF THE RESULTS	
7. CONCLUSION & DISCUSSION	55
7.1 Conclusion	55
7.2 Limitations	
7.3 Recommendations	
7.3.1 Future research	

7.3.2. Policy recommendations	
·	
DEFEDENCES	60
NEFENCES	

1. Introduction

1.1 Research Question and Motivation

Aging, increased life expectancy and financial instability - all these trends have led to an increased pressure on pension systems worldwide (Leibfritz, Roseveare, Fore, & Wurzel, 1995). Increased public expenditure on pensions, increased risk of old-age inequality and lower financial sustainability are all consequences of this pressure (OECD, 2017).

The reason why these trends have such an oppressive effect is because of the foundation of the pension systems in the world; the old-age dependency ratio (OECD, 2017). The old-age dependency ratio projects the ratio between people 65 years and older (inactive people), and the population between 20 and 64 (active people). The OECD (2017) predicts that this ratio will be almost doubled in 2050 when compared to 2015 (see figure 1).



Figure 1: Inactive/active ratio in OECD countries

Source: OECD (2017), p.19

Two major factors are causing this rising trend in the old-age dependency ratio: (1) increased life expectancy and (2) the declining fertility rate (Schnabel, 1998). First, the increased life expectancy. Due to reduction in infant and child mortality and the reduction in infectious disease mortality the life expectancy at birth has increased (Mathers, Stevens, Boerma, White, & Tobias, 2015). Increased life expectancy leads to a larger group of inactive people and has its effects on the old-age dependency ratio. The second factor is the "below-replacement-rate levels of fertility" (OECD, 2020, p.1). To be able to replace (on average) the total population of a country, the replacement rate is around or above 2.1 children per woman. Currently, on average, the total fertility rate is between 1.4 and 1.9 children per woman, meaning that the replacement rate is not achieved (OECD, 2020, p.1). Without meeting or exceeding this replacement rate, the population will decrease, the active group will become smaller, and the old-age dependency ratio will increase.

This calls for action. According to the OECD, multiple countries are trying to reform their pension system in order to create financial stability and meet up with the trends explained previously (OECD, 2017). Measurements that countries have taken so far are increasing the statutory retirement age, changing of indexation rules and contribution rates, and lowering the income replacement rates. To see to what effect a change in policy has on financial sustainability, it is important to search for possible changes in an individual's behavior. For example, searching for a correlation between an increased statutory retirement age and a change in the expected retirement age of people: if people change their behavior, a positive effect can be seen in the old-age dependency ratio. However, it is not possible to see behavior changes for people that are not close to their retirement decision. Therefore, you ought to look at the expectations of this group, as expectations are good predictors of actual behavior.

In 2010, The Netherlands took its first steps in increasing the financial sustainability of the pension system. The Dutch cabinet, together with labor unions and the National Labour

Council (in Dutch: Stichting van de Arbeid), agreed on changes in the current pension agreement. This pension agreement was founded in 1957 by the former Minister of Social Affairs Ko Suurhoff, based on the emergency law made by former Minister of Social Affairs Willem Drees in 1947 (Historiek, 2019). In this new agreement, the involved parties agreed to a gradual increase of the statutory retirement age from 65 years to 67 years by 2025 (Stichting van de Arbeid, 2010).

Based on theoretical models such as the Life Cycle Model, we know that people closer to the statutory retirement age will delay their retirement due to changes in the statutory retirement age (Atav, Jongen, Rabaté, 2019). For example, if they retire before they reach the new retirement age, the (retirement)income could decrease more than expected. In order to maintain their normal consumer behavior, it is necessary for them to continue working. However, for younger generations, it is harder to tell how their life cycle model changes. Their expectations are based on the preferences ratio between consumption and leisure. They can for example decide to work longer in order to have the same life cycle model outcomes as before any reforms (just like the almost retired people), but another possibility is, for example, that younger generations change their behavior and save more which can lead to early retirement. In case of the latter possibility, financial sustainability will be a lot harder to achieve since people will no longer contribute in the 'active' group and become part of the 'inactive' group. Unfortunately, academic research about the effects on the younger generations is limited, especially in contrast with the (almost) retirement population.

The search for individual retirement expectations is central in this study, following the paper of De Grip, Fouarge and Montizaan (2013). In order to do an in-depth study, this study will only focus on the policy reforms and people in The Netherlands. Such a focus makes it possible to look at effects on individuals over time.

9

The Netherlands is ranked first in the Mercer CFA Institute Global Pension Index (Lenski, 2020). In order to be able to remain at this first place, the financial sustainability needs to improve, which is done by reforms. Due to the visible reforms, it is possible to analysis them. This eagerness to remain in first place can be seen from a quote of MHP's chairman (one of the Unions in The Netherlands) Mr. Steenbord. He stated: "It is important to maintain the internationally acclaimed Dutch pension system in the future" (Stam, 2010, p.1). Aside from this, the LISS data set provides a panel data set from Dutch households with constituency in people, and subjective answers. These details make it possible to control for reciprocity.

The research question that is central in this paper is:

What is the effect of increases in the statutory retirement age on retirement expectations?

1.2 Relevance

In March 2013, Andries de Grip, Didier Fouarge and Raymond Montizaan publicized an article about the individual retirement expectations based on the upcoming change in policy of an increase in statutory retirement age in that same year (De Grip, Fouarge & Montizaan, 2013). This study will follow in the footsteps of this article by using more recent data and including more and different background characteristics.

The research design will also be different than De Grip et al (2013) used. For their study, they used cross-sectional data and an OLS regression to see differences within groups; this current study will use panel data and a fixed effects regression model to see if individuals themselves change over time. An advantage of using panel data instead of cross-sectional data is that you can work with fixed effects. Individuals can have the same characteristics but still be more optimistic or pessimistic about the future. Using this research design will give a more detailed analysis with more precise information about possible changes in expectations of individuals over time, as is the research question of this study.

In addition to the academic relevance, this study also has social relevance. The results of this study can be used in the public debate about pension systems. It informs the public about a possible connection between changes in policies and individual expectations. Will an increase in the statutory retirement age lead to more years on the labor market for younger generations, or do people change their behavior, such as increasing investments or savings, in order to retire at age 65? This question is not only interesting for the public but also for the policymakers. By showing if the expectations of people and the objective of the government are in line with one another, policymakers have the opportunity to pursue or change the policy if necessary.

1.3 Thesis outline

This thesis consists of seven chapters, including this introduction. Chapter two provides information about the composition of the pension system and what the Dutch pension system looks like, and outlines policy changes regarding the pension system in the last decade. In chapter three, an overview of the current literature about dependent and independent variables is presented. This chapter also introduces the hypothesis. Chapter four is dedicated to the research method and data collection of this paper. In order to answer the research question, this study will make use of the LISS dataset based on a panel study with people with different characteristics over multiple years. Chapter five will describe the operationalization of the analysis, the descriptive statistics and the empirical strategy. Based on a fixed effects regression model, the results will be discussed in chapter six. Finally, in chapter seven, the conclusion and the research findings, implications, limitations and future research suggestions are discussed.

2. Systems

2.1 Pension systems

Generally, there are two ways to fund a pension scheme: via a pay-as-you-go pension system (PAYG) and a fully funded system. In a PAYG system, contributions of people from the active group are directly transferred to people from the inactive group (Brunner, 1996). "A successful PAYG system requires a balance between the expenditure on pensions and the income from contributions made by the active workers over time, usually termed inter-generational solidarity" (Godínez-Olivares, del Carmen Boado-Penas, & Haberman, 2016, p.2). Because the growth rate of the economy is dependent on both the growth rate of the population and the labor productivity, this system is vulnerable for shocks such as low fertility rates (Brunner, 1996). To counter this, one can add an automatic balancing mechanism to create a sustainable system (Godínez-Olivares, et. al., 2016). Godínez-Olivares, et. al (2016) designed such a mechanism by improving for example contribution rates and conditions.

The main benefit from a PAYG system is intergenerational allocation of risk (Øystein Thøgersen, 1998). Due to the contribution of the younger generation, the older generation will be protected against macroeconomic risks (Bovenberg, & Uhlig, 2008). High risk-sharing can potentially lead to larger welfare gains and makes it possible for the government to adjust social security budgets to keep them in balance (Cui, De Jong, & Pons, 2011; Olovsson, 2010). Most OECD countries have integrated this system into their pension programs and will continue to use this in the next several decades (Øystein Thøgersen, 1998).

The second system is the fully funded system. In this system every person is responsible for their own old-age pension financing (Van den Bosch, 1988). This can be done via notional defined contribution (NDC) and funded defined contribution (FDC) (Chłoń-Domińczak, & Strzelecki, 2013). Notional defined contribution (NDC) system was introduced and implemented in Sweden in 2001 by the government (Auerbach, & Lee, 2006). In this system, for every individual from a certain age, the government maintains a notional capital account (Auerbach, & Lee, 2006). "The appeal of the NDC account system is that it is a PAYG scheme that emulates the principles of a DC scheme but relies on demographic funding" (Orszag, & Stigliz, 2001, p.98). Notional payments are based on the rate of return. This is set in the pension plan for each individual, and amount to roughly the same level as during the pre-retirement phase. People are paying a contribution for the duration of their working career (Orszag, & Stigliz, 2001). Compared to a PAYG system, this system increases the financial stability as the annuity structure stops rising costs due to increased life expectancy (Auerbach, & Lee, 2006).

Within a funded defined contribution (FDC) system contributions are fixed, and the pension payments mirror the accumulated capital within a pension fund (Hemming, 1998). "The assets of the pension funds will by definition cover the pension liability" (Hemming, 1998, p.7). This system, in contrast to a PAYG system, is not reliable on future generations which makes shocks in the demographic less impactful (Hemming, 1998). However, economic shock can have large effects, as is demonstrated by the financial crisis in 2008, which led to a fall in rate of returns on assets (Holzmann, 2013).

Currently there is an ongoing debate about whether the PAYG system should be replaced by a funded system (Sinn, 2000). Some researchers have argued that a paretoimproving transition is possible (Brunner, 1996). Brunner (1996) argues that you can solve the deadweight-loss, that is caused by the distorted labor-leisure decision in the PAYG system, by some form of labor tax. Other researchers argue that this pareto-improving transition is not possible because current employees must pay twice during the transition period - making at least one generation worse off and no longer a pareto-improvement (Feldstein, 1997). Current employees have to pay the PAYG taxes to keep supporting the current retirees and have to save for their own retirement. This debate extends beyond the limits of this paper, but it is an interesting topic since multiple countries are dealing with this dilemma of whether not to make the transition.

2.2 Dutch Pension System

On October 20th 2020, The Netherlands was ranked first in the Mercer CFA Institute Global Pension Index for the third year in a row (Lenski, 2020; Ubink, 2020). This makes the Netherlands an interesting case to explore.

The Dutch Pensions system is designed with three different pillars (De Kruijf, Johan, & De Vries, 2018). The first pillar is based on a mandatory pension plan organized by the government. This pillar is also called 'Old Age Pension' (AOW in Dutch) (Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid, 2020a). You have to live at least 50 years in The Netherlands in order to receive full benefit from this pillar when reaching the statutory retirement age (De Kruijf, Johan, & De Vries, 2018). The payments are paid monthly, and start as soon as the statutory retirement age is reached. Like most countries, this first pillar is based on a pay-as-you-go system (Bovenberg, 2014). Chile is an exception to the 'standard' (Hemming, 1998). In 1981, Chile was the first country that replaced the PAYG system for a funded system to finance their public pension. After its success, some countries are implementing or considering this change. But the majority is still using the PAYG system to fund their public pension (Godínez-Olivares, del Carmen Boado-Penas, & Haberman, 2016). In the Netherlands, currently the age at which people can receive AOW is not flexible (Baars, Dillingh, Driessen, Knoef, Muns, Tielen, Van der Meer, Van Soest & Van Vuuren, 2019). This means that it is not possible to choose to retire early and still receive full AOW at that age; you can retire early, but you will only receive (full) AOW payment as soon as you reach the statutory retirement age.

The second pillar is based on a plan that is set up by employers and covers roughly 90 percent of all the employees in The Netherlands, as this pillar is mandatory (Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid, 2020a). This plan is constructed through defined benefit or contributions, which is organized by private pension funds with regulatory and fiscal standards set by the Dutch government (De Kruijf, Johan, & De Vries, 2018). Compared to other countries, people in The Netherlands largely depend on the second pillar: in 2013, Statistics Netherlands (CBS) calculated that 40% of the total amount of pensions entitlements is within the second pillar, versus Germany (about 5%), France (about 7%) and the United Kingdom (about 22%) (Bruil, Schmitz, Gebraad, Bhageloe-Datadin, 2015; Bovenberg, 2014). An explanation for why this number is relatively high in The Netherlands can be that second pillar pension is part of fringe benefits when signing a contract. Because a lot of people are involved in such a pension scheme, higher risk sharing can take place which makes it easier to organize for employers (Bovenberg, 2014). Compared to the first pillar, the second pillar does have a (semi) flexible retirement age (Baars, Dillingh, Driessen, Knoef, Muns, Tielen, Van der Meer, Van Soest & Van Vuuren, 2019). Depending on the pension fund, it is possible to retire as early as age 55 or continue working till age 72. Therefore, within this pillar the statutory retirement age does not have to be reached in order to retire, instead it depends on your savings and consuming needs. As soon as an individual decides to retire, he or she will receive a monthly pay-out. A lump sum payment is currently not allowed in The Netherlands (Van der Cruijsen, & Jonker, 2019).

The third pillar is a voluntary pillar and therefore different from the first and the second (mandatory pillars). This pillar is based on an individual insurance (Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid, 2020a). If an individual is not satisfied with a retirement income received from the first and second pillar, he or she can save through for example annuities in the third pillar (Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid, 2020a). The reliance on this

pillar is quite low (about 6%) when compared to countries such as Italy (about 25%) and the United States of America (about 41%) (Bovenberg, 2014). A reason for this can be the large amount of the total pension entitlements in the first and second pillar that is satisfactory for people: the first and second pillars together provide an average gross replacement rate above 80 percent, which makes the third pillar less important (Bovenberg, 2014; Alessie, Van Rooij, & Lusardi, 2011).

Looking at an average household in the Netherlands, about 75% of the total amount of pension income depends on the first and second pillar (Knoef, Goudswaard, Been, & Caminada, 2015). Looking at a lower income group, the first pillar will be the main source of income. And, the higher the income before retirement, the more important the second pillar is in terms of pension income (Knoef, Goudswaard, Been, & Caminada, 2015).

2.3 Pension system reforms

In 1957, ten years after the temporary policy concerning state pension, an official policy was introduced where mandatory insurance effectuated state pension for all inhabitants: The General Old Age Act, or Algemene Ouderdom Wet in Dutch (Gradus, 2014). Since then, the government has changed small parts of the Dutch pension system multiple times. These reforms include final pay defined benefit schemes to average pay schemes and to end the opportunity for early retirement for people born after 1950 (Broeders, & Ponds, 2012; De Grip, Fouarge, & Monitzaan, 2013).

In 2010, a major reform took place in the first pillar. (Stichting van de Arbeid, 2010). Employer organizations, unions, government, and other social partners agreed upon necessary changes in order to keep the Dutch pension system more future proof (Stam, 2010). The most important changes the parties agreed on were (Stichting van de Arbeid, 2010):

- 1. AN INCREASE OF THE RETIREMENT AGE FROM 65 TO 66 IN 2020 AND 67 IN 2025.
- 2. The state pension will be linked to the earned wages rather than the negotiated wages
- 3. THE POSSIBILITY FOR EARLY RETIREMENT AT THE AGE OF 65 INSTEAD OF THE NEW RETIREMENT AGE WITH A REDUCTION IN STATE PENSION PAYMENT OF 6,5% PER YEAR.

In June 2011, the Bureau for Economic Policy Analysis (CPB) examined the effects of this new pension agreement on state finances and the impact on younger generations (CPB, 2011). They concluded that this change was necessary for the ability to maintain the future expenses, but extending the increased retirement age in 2020 was too late. Table 2.1 shows the new statutory retirement age per birth cohort that was agreed upon in the new pension agreement.

Table 2.1: Statutory Retirement Age per Birth Cohort in 2011

Birth Cohort	Statutory Retirement Age
Born in 1954 or earlier	65 years old
Born between 1955 to 1959	66 years old
Born after 1959	67 years old

Source: CPB, 2011, p. 6

Although this agreement was signed by the social partners and the Dutch congress, when this agreement was sent to the Senate, the minister of social affairs decided to block the initiative (Eerste Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 2012).

In 2012, the new pension agreement again changed a little. After a year of continuous meetings and discussions between the Dutch Cabinet and the social partners, the Minister of Finance sent out a letter to parliament, stating that the new state pension retirement age was not to be increased for the first time in 2020, but pulled forward to 2013. (De Jager, 2012). In 2013, the statutory retirement age has started increasing by one month, which continued the following years with one or two months until 2020, when the new state pension retirement age of 66 was reached, as per the decision in 2010 (De Jager, 2012). The retirement age in the second pillar was increased to age 67 in 2014, and thereafter linked to increase with the average life expectancy (De Jager, 2012). The new measurements led to a saving of 144 million euros in the government's budget in 2013 alone (De Jager, 2012, p.12). Table 2.2 shows the statutory retirement age per birth cohort due to the changes made in the pension agreement.

	T	T	
Birthyear	Statutory Retirement Age	Birthyear	SRA
Born before 1948	65 years old	Born from 1961 to 1963	67 years + 6 months*
Born in 1948	65 years + 1 months	Born in 1964 or 1965	67 years + 9 months*
Born in 1949	65 year + 2 months	Born in 1966	68 years old*
Born in 1950	65 years + 3 months	Born from 1967 to 1969	68 years + 3 months*
Born in 1951	65 years + 5 months	Born in 1970 or 1971	68 years + 6 months*
Born in 1952	65 years + 7 months	Born in 1972 or 1793	68 years + 9 months*
Born in 1953	65 years + 9 months	Born in 1974	69 years old*
Born in 1954	66 years old	Born from 1975 to 1977	69 years + 3 months*
Born in 1955	66 years + 3 months	Born in 1978 or 1979	69 years + 6 months*
Born in 1956	66 years + 6 months	Born from 1980 or 1981	69 years + 9 months*
Born in 1957	66 years + 9 months	Born in 1982	70 years old*
Born in 1958	67 years old	Born from 1983 to 1985	70 years + 3 months*
Born in 1959 or 1960	67 years + 3 months*	Born from 1986 to 1988	70 years + 6 months*

Table 2.2: Statutory Retirement Age per Birth Cohort starting on January 1st, 2013

Source: De Jager (2012); own composition

* calculated based on the equation: V = (L - 18,26) - (P - 65) as described in article 7a of the law State Pension (Kamp & Weekers, 2012) and the prognosis of the life expectancy after reaching the age 65 of CBS (CBS, n.d.).

V = the period by which the statutory retirement increased

L = the estimated macro average remaining life expectancy at age 65 in the calendar year of the increase

P = the retirement age in the calendar year preceding the calendar year of the increase

In 2014, parliament decided to again accelerate the increase of the state pension retirement age from to 66 in 2018 (instead of 2020), and 67 in 2021 (instead of 2024), starting on January 1st, 2016 (Kleinsma & Wiebes, 2014). Reason to do this was to secure the affordability of the state pension in the future, which would secure the state finances in the future (Kleinsma & Wiebes, 2014). Table 2.3 shows the new statutory retirement age per birth cohort.

		T	-
Birthyear	Statutory Retirement Age	Birthyear	SRA
Born before 1948	65 years old	Born from 1964 to 1966	67 years + 9 months*
Born in 1948	65 years + 1 months	Born in 1967	68 years old*
Born in 1949	65 year + 2 months	Born in 1968 or 1969	68 years + 3 months*
Born in 1950	65 years + 3 months	Born from 1970 to 1972	68 years + 6 months*
Born in 1951	65 years + 6 months	Born in 1973 or 1974	68 years + 9 months*
Born in 1952	65 years + 9 months	Born in 1975	69 years old*
Born in 1953	66 years old	Born from 1976 to 1978	69 years + 3 months*
Born in 1954	66 years + 4 months	Born in 1979 or 1980	69 years + 6 months*
Born in 1955	66 years + 8 months	Born from 1981 to 1983	69 years + 9 months*
Born from 1956 to 1958	67 years old	Born in 1984	70 years old*
Born in 1959 or 1960	67 years + 3 months*	Born from 1985 to 1987	70 years + 3 months*
Born from 1961 to 1963	67 years + 6 months*	Born in 1988	70 years + 6 months*

Table 2.3: Statutory Retirement Age per Birth Cohort starting January 1st, 2016

Source: Atav, Jongen, & Rabaté (2020), p.2; Kleinsma & Wiebes (2014), p. 1; own composition Note: after 2021 (retirement age is set at 67 years old), the same equation as in 2013 (Kamp & Weekers, 2012) is applicable and used for the calculation of the retirement ages.

In 2019, the Social Economic Board (SER) published a report 'Towards a new pension system' (SER, 2019). This report stated that the Dutch government, employers' organizations and unions came to a new pension agreement as replacement for the current pension system. The most important changes with respect to the current system were (Koolmees & Snel, 2019; SER, 2019):

1. A STOP OF INCREASING RETIREMENT AGE (OF 66 AND 4 MONTHS) IN 2020 AND 2021

- 2. Step-by-step increase in retirement age starting in 2022 to 67 years old in 2024.
- **3.** Possibility to retire three years before achieving the retirement age and get a compensation from your employer without paying a fee.
- 4. THE SET-UP FOR A NEW CONTRACT WHERE RISK SHARING IS BASED ON AGE COMPOSITION OF A PENSION FUND AND AGE-DEPENDED PREMIUMS ARE PAID.

Notably, this new agreement consisted only of an outline, with no mention of any details. In June 2020, however, these details were filled in. The government together with the social partners came to a final agreement including all the necessary details (Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid, 2020b). Examples of such details were that all pension funds needed to have implemented the new contract by January 1st, 2026, and that from 2025 onwards, the state pension retirement age would increase by eight months when the life expectancy would increase by one year (Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid, 2020b). "This new pension system will be more personal, more transparent and will offer an earlier indexation perspective. With this system we will have the best pension system in the world, not only for today, but also for the future", according to Minister Koolmees of Social Affairs (Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid, 2020b). Table 2.4 shows the statutory retirement age per birth cohort with this agreement.

Birthyear	SRA	Birthyear	SRA
Born before 1948	65 years old	Born in 1963, 1964, 1965	67 years + 7 months*
Born in 1948	65 years + 1 months	Born in 1966 or 1967	67 years + 10 months*
Born in 1949	65 year + 2 months	Born in 1968	68 years old*
Born in 1950	65 years + 3 months	Born in 1969 or 1970	68 years + 3 months*
Born in 1951	65 years + 6 months	Born from 1971 to 1973	68 years + 6 months*
Born in 1952	65 years + 9 months	Born in 1974 or 1975	68 years + 9 months*
Born in 1953	66 years old	Born in 1976	69 years old*
Born in 1954 or 1955	66 years + 4 months	Born from 1977 to 1979	69 years + 3 months*
Born in 1956	66 years + 7 months	Born in 1980 or 1981	69 years + 6 months*
Born from 1957	66 years + 10 months	Born from 1982 to 1984	69 years + 9 months*
Born from 1958 to 1960	67 years old	Born in 1985	70 years old*
Born in 1961 or 1962	67 years + 4 months*	Born from 1986 to 1988	70 years + 3 months*

Table 2.4 Statutory Retirement Age per Birth Cohort starting January 1st, 2020

Source: Koolmees & Snel (2019), p. 1-2; Belastingdienst (2020); own composition Note: after 2024 (retirement age is set at 67 years old), the same equation as in 2013 (Kamp & Weekers, 2012) is applicable and used for the calculation of the retirement ages.

In short, ten years after the first major reform within the pension system, multiple reforms have taken place, all in order to be able to maintain state pension and secure state finances in the future.

3. Theory

As has been discussed in the introduction, expectations are a part of the Life Cycle Model that can explain and predict economic decision making in an individual's life. In order to see how this plays out in real life, it is important to first discuss the Life Cycle Model. Next to that, it is important to see what role expectations play in this model, and to explain how (subjective) expectations can influence the behavior. Lastly, it is important to research in what way this can influence the retirement decision.

3.1 Life Cycle Model

The Life Cycle Model (LCM) is a theoretical framework that indicates the allocation of effort, time and money (Browning, & Crossley, 2001). It predicts an optimal plan of saving and consumption over lifetime (Thaler, & Benartzi, 2004). The optimal plan is a plan of consumption smoothing over time and depends on the saving rate, consumption needs and time preferences (Browning, & Crossley, 2001). Smoothing, according to Browning & Crossley, means: "The agents try to keep the marginal utility of money constant over time, which may involve quite variable expenditures" (2001, p. 4). This means that although consumption is not fixed over time, the marginal utility is.

The LCM is based on the assumption that households will take future circumstances into account when making consumption decisions (Danziger, Van der Gaag, Smolensky, & Taussig, 1982). People anticipate on income reductions once they retire, which leads to saving when younger, and dissaving after retirement. Individuals tend to maximize their utility based on their current and future earnings (Ando, & Modigliani, 1963). Without uncertainties this model is

straightforward; the maximized utility function leads to a desire to smooth out consumption over a lifetime, especially when keeping retirement in mind (Attanasio, 1999).

Because it is not possible to spend more than an individual can earn during their life, the equation for calculating the optimal consumption given a certain point in life is:

$$C = \frac{NY^d + RZ}{N+R} \tag{1}$$

Here, *C* represents the consumption per year, *N* the number of working years and *R* the number of years retired. Y^d equals the disposable income and *Z* indicates the annual pension income (Cooper, & John, 2018). The optimal consumption is, next to income, dependent on an individual time preference and the interest rate. Together with the first equation, this will give the equation for the optimal consumption rate:

$$C_{t+1} = \frac{1+r}{1+\rho} * C_t$$
 (2)

In equation 2, r indicates the interest rate and ρ indicates the time preferences of an individual. *t* stands for the current year. Next the optimal consumption, this theoretical framework provides an equation for the optimal saving rate during work life:

$$S_{t+1} = (1+r)S_t + w - c_t \tag{3}$$

In this equation (3), S indicates the amount of savings in a certain year. r stands for the interest rate in a year. t indicates the current year, w equals the wage of an individual per year and c indicates the consumption per year (Knoef, 2020). The equation for optimal saving during retirement is slightly different than the equation for the optimal saving rate during work life, because w is replaced by b, which indicates the pension benefits (Knoef, 2020):

$$S_{t+1} = (1+r)S_t + b - c_t \tag{4}$$

3.2 Expectations and LCM

As has been specified in equation 1, the optimal lifetime consumption is, among other things, based on the number of years retired. When an individual is not close to retirement, this number is based on the expectations/prediction of this person's retirement duration. The mortality expectation of an individual is thereby of great influence on LCM (Salm, 2010). An individual that has a high expected mortality rate expects to benefit less from consumption in the future, and expects to spend fewer years in retirement, and so will consume more in the present than an individual with a lower expected mortality rate (Salm, 2010).

Because of the fact that LCM is a theoretical framework, in practice actual household behavior can differ from the optimal consumption rate calculated by the theory (Thaler, & Benartzi, 2004). A reason that is given by Thaler & Benartzi (2004) is that people may lack self-control. Because state pension and/or social security is (almost) certain, this only strengthens the lack of self-control to reduce current consumption (Thaler, & Benartzi, 2004). People are likely to overconsume compared with the optimal consumption due to expectations.

Another way expectations and LCM are connected is the financial attitude. People who are more optimistic tend to save less, because they do not fear loss of income during their work life. This leads to a suboptimal saving rate (Brown, & Taylor, 2006). People who are more pessimistic see their savings not only as a way of smoothing consumption but also as an insurance against future income loss due to unforeseen events (Brown, & Taylor, 2006).

3.3 (Retirement) Expectations and influences

"Most economic decisions involve uncertainty and are therefore shaped not only by preferences but also by expectations of future outcomes" (Delavande, Giné, & McKenzie, 2011, p. 1). How individuals behave is partly explained by their expectations and are therefore very important to understand. In several studies, expectations have been linked to behavior.

An example of those studies is the research done by Huang (2014). In this study, Huang investigated the influences of expectations on the housing market in the United States. Due to over-optimism, where buyers expected that house prices would increase in the future, people bought houses that were too expensive for what they could afford. This led to extensive debts which ended up in a recession when house prices did not increase as predicted (Huang, 2014).

Media can also influence or even change expectations (Manski, 2004). This can be done in two different ways: due to 'volume' and 'tone' (Lamla, & Lein, 2014). Volume means how often the media report certain events. If the media report more on certain subjects, people will obtain new or more information about this subject. This can influence their expectations (Manski, 2004). The second way is the 'tone' of the media (Lamla, & Lein, 2014). If the media report more positive than negative news items about an event or subject, people tend to become more optimistic, and vice versa. It is a way of framing an event that can lead to change in expectations and with that a change in behavior (Barr, 2020). An example of how the media influenced expectations and behavior is visible in the results from a study done by Goda, Shoven & Slavov (2011). During the Great Recession, the media coverage was generally pessimistic about the economy. This, together with other factors, generally led to a delay in retirement since peoples' expectations changed their behavior (Goda, Shoven, & Slavov, 2011).

But not only the media can influence (retirement) expectations. Another factor is the stock market (Goda, Shoven, & Slavov, 2010). Goda, Shoven, & Slavov (2010) reported in their study that the probability of working full-time at age 62 decreases if the stock market goes up. The LCM explains this as follows: if the stock market grows, the income of an individual will go up, meaning that an individual can consume more or start earlier with dissaving (retirement). With a stock market going down, the reverse effect is visible (Goda, Shoven, & Slavov, 2010).

In short, not only expectations can influence the outcome (our behavior), but expectations can also be influenced by external sources such as the media or the stock market. These expectations can eventually influence the behavior of people.

3.4 Retirement decision

As has been stated so far in this literature chapter, the retirement decision in general can be explained by the LCM. In this model expectations are crucial, because, as mentioned before, they will eventually influence behavior. The decision to retire is also based on expectations. So, in order to see how expectations and behavior influence the retirement decision, it is important to look at factors that influence the expected retirement age.

3.4.1 Labor Market Choices

The decision to retire can be interpreted as a labor/leisure tradeoff (Börsch-Supan, 2000). Each individual has a labor/leisure decision to make (Altman, 2001). Based on individual preferences, an individual needs to decide how much time he or she wants to spend on labor, and how much time he or she wants to spend on leisure. Changes in wages and income can lead to changes in this labor/leisure tradeoff. The micro-economic theory about the substitution- and income effect predicts whether labor or leisure increases (Altman, 2001). People close to the statutory retirement age have to make a decision whether to continue working, leave the labor market and take early retirement or work after the retirement age is reached. Because this decision is dependent on the retirement age, changes in this statutory age can postpone or stimulate early retirement (Börsch-Supan, 2000).

3.4.1.1 Substitution effect

A substitution effect means that when wages go up, you work more (McDowell, Thom, Pastine, Frank & Beranke, 2012). Reason for this is that because of higher wages, not working will be more expensive since you are receiving less income compared to the past. You now will substitute leisure for work. If wages decrease, leisure will become less expensive, which leads to a substitution of work for leisure.

Applied to the pension case, Petersen (1988) states that increasing the statutory retirement age can lead to an increase in expected retirement age. Due to this higher retirement age, income will continue to grow, meaning that leisure (early retirement) will become more expensive. The costs for early retirement is losing income, which can lead to the decision to continue working. Therefore, the substitution effect will delay retirement. A study done by Rabaté and Rochut (2020), shows that because of the reform in 2010 in France (where the statutory retirement age was increased from age 60 to age 61), the employment rate at age 60 increased by almost 23 percent compared to people aged 60 before the reform. This result indicates a delay in retirement, which again shows a substitution effect.

3.4.1.2 Incomes effect

An income effect works in the opposite way (McDowell, Thom, Pastine, Frank & Beranke, 2012). When wages increase, you will have a higher income, which allows you to 'buy' more leisure. If wages decrease, this purchasing power will decrease, meaning that you will purchase less leisure and will work more (McDowell, Thom, Pastine, Frank & Beranke, 2012).

Applied to the pension case, both directions of the income effect can be argued for. Conde-Ruiz, Galasso and Profeta (2013) argue that a decrease in pension benefits would lead to a delay in retirement. This result can be interpreted as follows: an increase in statutory retirement age will lead to lower pension benefits before reaching this new retirement age, which will postpone retirement. This shows the income effect: when income is lower, you will work more because of loss in purchasing power. Petersen (1988) similarly argues that higher statutory retirement age will lead to a higher income (since you have to work longer), which provides a desire for people to retire earlier than the new statutory retirement age. Income is not only based on income from labor. Investments and social benefits are part of income as well (Gelderblom, Collewet, & De Koning, 2011). The older you are, the higher the total amount of savings (because you have saved more years), the higher the income, which can lead to early retirement (Gelderblom, Collewet, & De Koning, 2011). If the statutory retirement age increases, the income from investments and labor will increase, but income out of social benefits can decrease. Gelderblom, et al (2011) argue that generally, due to age, the investment in the second pillar will be higher, which leads to earlier retirement. But as this depends on individual characteristics, this does not apply to everybody.

Which of the two effects, the substitution effect or the income effect, dominates is hard to say. It is also a possibility that no effect is visible because both effects can perfectly compensate for each other (Conde-Ruiz, Galasso, & Profeta, 2013). Rather, it is an empirical question that can be different for different subjects (McDowell, Thom, Pastine, Frank & Beranke, 2012).

3.4.2 Financial Literacy

The theory about the labor/leisure trade-off does have a shortcoming. It lacks an explanation for differences in preferences between individuals with the same level of income/leisure as well as an explanation for how preferences can be influenced by internal and external factors (Altman, 2001). Financial literacy is a factor that influences the retirement expectations of individuals (Bucher-Koenen & Tusardi, 2011). The better the financial literacy, the better the retirement planning is. This retirement planning is necessary in order to fill the gap that is created by increasing the statutory retirement age (Bucher-Koenen & Tusardi, 2011).

This financial knowledge can manifest influence in two different ways: 1. expectations about the retirement age; and 2. long-term investments (Fouarge, De Grip, & Monitzaan, 2011).

For a policy to be successful, it is important that people have some financial knowledge. The research of Fouarge et al. (2011), concluded that people who are financially literate work four months longer compared to people who are not financially competent. People without this knowledge expect to keep the same retirement age as before the policy changes. However, how financial literacy influences retirement behavior is not crystal clear. Research done by Alessie, Van Rooij, and Lusardi (2011) argues that financial literacy is insignificant, as all people do have some indication of their expected retirement age. They argue that people who are born before 1955 expect to retire earlier than people born after 1975. This is in line with reform policy, therefore financial knowledge does not influence this decision. Contrastingly, Clark, Morrill, and Allen (2012) argue that financial literacy does have a significant effect on the retirement age and the financial consequences of early retirement. These errors in knowledge are especially common among younger people and lesser educated people. People with a higher educational background tend to be better informed.

Financial literacy can also have an influence on investments. Due to policy changes, people have to invest more in order to compensate for lower pension income (if they still want to retire early or at the old statutory retirement age). Fouarge et al. (2011) state that younger people do not anticipate this lower pension income, and only about one-third is investing extra in their pension. If people invest in retirement products, people with more financial literacy tend to invest more in retirement products than people with less financial literacy (Fouarge, De Grip, & Monitzaan, 2011). But no connection is found between financial literacy and willingness to invest in second and third pillar pension (Fouarge, De Grip, & Monitzaan, 2011). Research done by Hung, Meijer and Yoong (2009) found a similar result. Although they found a positive effect on investment behavior for people with higher financial literacy, this relationship was not statistically significant. Hastings and Michell (2011) found a significant

result between financial literacy and investment decisions, although they say this correlation is weak. Additionally, De Grip (2015) found a significant result between financial knowledge and investments in life saving schemes. People with higher financial literacy are investing twice as much in life saving schemes compared to people with lower financial literacy (De Grip, 2015).

3.4.3 Health

Financial literacy is not the only factor that influences the expected retirement age; there are three other major factors: health, economic status, and behavioral and psychological features (Knoll, 2011). The majority of research has confirmed that people who indicate their own health as good, will retire later than people who indicate their health as poor (Knoll, 2011). McGarry (2002) even argues that health has a greater influence on the retirement expectations than changes in income or wealth. If people expect to live to age 85, they indicate better health and also indicate to expect to continue working longer (McGarry, 2002). In addition to people's own health, the health of their family also affects the retirement decision. If family members of individuals indicated poor/fair health, the individual expects to retire earlier than individuals with family indicated good health (McGarry, 2002).

Nevertheless, health is a difficult factor to be interpreted causally. Reason for this is that not only does health have an effect on the expected retirement age, but the expected retirement age also has an influence on health. Deciding on working longer or shorter can influence your expected health status. Therefore, because of this endogeneity, where a dependent variable can influence the dependent variable, the factor health will not be taking into account in the empirical analysis.

3.4.4 Economic Status

People with higher economic status tend to delay their retirement more so than people with a lower economic status (Knoll, 2011). The higher the earnings, the more retirement is

discouraged (Quinn, Burkhauser, & Myers, 1990). But working can also encourage people to retire, due to for example payroll taxes. The higher this wealth loss is, in contrast to the benefits from retirement, the higher the probability that individuals will retire (Quinn, Burkhauser, & Myers, 1990). But according to the research by Li, Hurd and Loughran (2008), wealth before retirement between early retired people and people who postpone their retirement does not substantially differ. The researcher did not find a reason why this is the case. Nevertheless, those working in physically demanding jobs and lower labor market earnings tend to retire earlier than people with management occupations (Li, Hurd, & Loughran, 2008).

Therefore, the economic status and or the financial situation of an individual tends to have a positive effect on the retirement decision. The higher the labor market earnings, the higher the expected retirement age tends to be. Wealth, on the other hand, does not seem to have a direct influence on this retirement decision.

3.4.5 Social interaction

The last big influence on the retirement decision is social interaction. With social interaction, multiple factors are accounted for. Spouse's influence is one of the factors. People tend to wish to retire simultaneously with their spouses, which would lead to early retirement for one of the two, the 'joint retirement desire' (Johnson, 2004). However, not only the wish to retire together influences the decision; research done by Smith and Moen (1998) showed that the decision to retire is influenced by their spouse, independent of the labor situation of their spouse. Another factor is the financial situation of children. If children are financial dependent on an individual, the incentive to retire early decreases (Henkens, van Solinge, & van Dalen, 2009). Lastly, emotional interaction is a factor that can influence the retirement decision. Work is being associated by intellectual discussion, which can disappear as soon as people decide to retire and leave the labor market (Knoll, 2011). This will lead to a delay in retirement.

So, social interaction can influence the retirement decision in both ways. Where emotional interaction and children who are financial dependent tend to delay the retirement decision, spouses tend to stimulate early retirement.

3.5 Hypothesis

Within the (economic) literature, research has shown that there are multiple factors that influence the decision on when to retire. Some of these factors have been discussed in this literature chapter. Because this paper builds on the research done by De Grip, Fouarge and Monitzaan (2013), the hypothesis is based on their results. As De Grip et al (2013) found a positive result of the announced policy change and the expected retirement age, the following hypotheses have been established:

H0: THERE IS NO EFFECT OF POLICY CHANGES IN STATUTORY RETIREMENT AGE ON THE EXPECTED RETIREMENT AGE OF PEOPLE.

H1: THERE IS A POSITIVE EFFECT OF POLICY CHANGES IN STATUTORY RETIREMENT AGE ON THE EXPECTED RETIREMENT AGE OF PEOPLE.

4. Research Design

This study focuses on finding causal effects between the dependent and the independent variable. To see if changes in statutory retirement age have an effect on the expected retirement age, it is important to see changes within the expected retirement age. This can be done with a standard regression, to see if there is a causal connection. Because the data set that is used in this study consists of panel data, it is possible to improve the regression by including fixed effects. Therefore, the research design of this paper is based on a Fixed Effects Regression Model.

4.1 Fixed Effects Regression Model

The Fixed Effects (FE) Model is a special variation of the standard regression model. It requires the same basic parts such as a dependent variable, treatment and/or independent variable, and control variables (Angrist, & Pischke, 2014). But the Fixed Effects regression makes it possible to control for variables that are not taken into account or cannot be measured (Allisson, 2009). The individuals within the dataset are used as their own control. This means that within this regression you do not make use of a control group and an experimental group, but you use the individual itself as the control group. This makes it is possible to control for some characteristics of individuals.

This model is applicable for variables that do not change over time, such as race or region of birth, but also for more complicated variables, such as "intelligence, child-rearing practices, and genetic makeup" (Allison, 2009, p.8). A fixed effects model cannot control for variables that change over time and should therefore be included into the regression itself.

According to Allisson (2009), there are two requirements for data when using the fixed effects methods (Allisson, 2009, p.9):

- 1. "THE DEPENDENT VARIABLE MUST BE MEASURED FOR EACH INDIVIDUAL ON AT LEAST TWO OCCASIONS. THEY MUST BE DIRECTLY COMPARABLE"
- 2. "THE PREDICTOR VARIABLES OF INTEREST MUST CHANGE IN VALUE ACROSS THOSE MULTIPLE OCCASIONS FOR SOME SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF THE SAMPLE"

The first requirement means that, in order to search for an effect, it is important that you use a panel dataset. In this dataset, the variables are measured in the same way, which makes them comparable as well as having observations of one individual over time. This makes it possible to use the observations of an individual as their own control. The second requirement is stated because if estimated variables do not change over time, a fixed effect regression will not show any results. If variables do not change over time, the regression cannot estimate future or causal results (Allisson, 2009).

The reason why a fixed effect regression will be used in this study is because with this model it is possible to take pessimistic and optimistic personalities into the regression, without influencing the results. This way, the regression will show a result that indicates how many months or years people will delay or expedite their retirement when statutory retirement age changes.

4.2 Data Collection

To gain the information that is necessary for the analysis, the LISS (Longitudinal Internet studies for the Social Sciences) database is used. "The LISS panel is a representative sample of Dutch individuals who participate in monthly Internet surveys. The panel is based on a true

probability sample of households drawn from the population register. Households that could not otherwise participate are provided with a computer and Internet connection. A longitudinal survey is fielded in the panel every year, covering a large variety of domains including health, work, education, income, housing, time use, political views, values and personality" (Scherpenzeel & Das, 2010). The LISS panel includes approximately 7,500 individuals (CentERdata, n.d.). The monthly response is between the 50 and the 80 percent (CentERdata, n.d.). Because this dataset provides both differences in behavior for an individual over time, and opinions and expectations of individuals, this dataset is used in this research to see whether an effect is visible.

5. Analysis

5.1 Operationalization

5.1.1 Sample

The population of the study are people between 25 and 55 years old (with 2013 being the reference point). Age 25 is chosen as the minimum age because at that age, most people have entered the work force and will therefore likely have been introduced to pension agreements within the firm they are working or have at least some knowledge about pension. Age 55 is set as the maximum age because at this age, retirement is far enough away that changes in your behavior can still influence the outcome of your retirement decision. The closer you are to the statutory retirement age, the less an effect can be visible because changes in behavior (for example increased saving) will not have a big influence anymore. So, in order to see a potential change in behavior when reforms are taking place, it is better to be further away from the statutory retirement age. The analysis will therefore focus on the birth cohorts from January 1958 to December 1987.

The respondent group consists of 2,084 unique individuals. Over the years, these individuals formed a group of 8,561 observations. This means that not all unique individuals have responded to the monthly/annual questionnaire. Their ages are between 45 and 61. Younger people were part of the selection process but did not answer the question that was crucial for the dependent variable. That is why they were removed from the dataset.

5.1.2 Measures

For the analyses, the data that will be used are based on the existing questionnaires from the LISS database from the period January 2011 to December 2019. Within this time frame the first reform (announced in 2010) was introduced to the public, as well as the second and third major

reforms; the fourth reform of the statutory retirement age commenced after this timeframe. This way it is possible to see if and how policy changes that were introduced and executed have influenced people's behavior regarding their expected retirement age.

The dependent variable within this research is the expected retirement age. This will be measured by a direct question: "At what age do you expect to retire or take early retirement or to stop working?". This question could be answered with any number and the option "I don't know". This last option gets the value of 9999 in the dataset. Because this option will heavily influence the outcome, this option will be treated as a missing value and the respondent that gives this answer will be in its entirety excluded from the dataset.

The independent variable is the Statutory Retirement Age. The Statutory Retirement Age variable is calculated based on knowledge provided by the government (see chapter 2) and based on the year of the questionnaire. This also means that reforms in the statutory retirement age will be taken into account.

5.1.3 Additional variables

Education level

'Education level' can be measured in two different ways: with and without receiving a diploma from the highest education level. Respondents are asked the following question: 'please indicate the educational level of the members of your household. Select the highest level that a person ever attended or is attending now. After that select the highest level that this person has already completed (with a diploma or certificate)'. For both parts of the question, respondents are able to choose from the following categories: *Primary School* (1); *VMBO, LBO, MULO, ULO and MAVO* (2); *HAVO, VWO and HBS* (3); *MBO* (4); *HBO* (5); *University* (6); *Other* (7); *Has not yet completed any education* (8); and *Has not (yet) started any education* (9). Because both questions are relatively similar, only "*education with a received diploma or certificate*" will be

used in the regressions. There are two missing values in the dataset, meaning that this question was not answered twice.

Economic status

This variable is measured by the question: 'please enter the requested information about the monthly income of the member of your household'. The answer is numeric. If a respondent does not have any income, he will fill out 0. If a respondent does not know the income the answer -13 is filled in. If a respondent does not want to share this info the answer -15 will be filled in. Within the panel, members don't always follow these missing codes. Some respondents do not want to share their income or do not know what their gross and net income is and used the code 0 instead of -13 or -15. Therefore, all people that have used -13 or -15 will be set to 0, because it is impossible to determine which people do not have any income or did use the wrong code.

Because of the lack of response for both gross and net income, it has been decided to not include this variable in the regression. The mean and standard deviation (see table 5.1) show extraordinary results that cannot give a sufficient result.

Social interaction

Social interaction is defined as a respondent that lives with a partner (wedded and unwedded). This is measured semi-directly by the question: 'can you indicate the relationships between the members of your household'. If the respondent answers this question with 'spouse or partner', this will be indicated with one (1). If the respondent answers this question otherwise, this answer will be indicated with zero (0). Within the observations, two values are missing, meaning that the respondent did not answer this question.

Gender

The variable 'gender' is directly measured with the same question as the independent variable. If a respondent answers one (1), he identified himself as a male. If the respondent answers two (2), she identified herself as a female. If a respondent does not identify themselves as male or female, no answer is filled in. Within this dataset two values are missing. This can either be because of lack of response to the question or the respondent did not identify as male or female.

Migration background

This variable is not based on a directly asked question to the respondents. It is based on different variables from the study Religion and Ethnicity from the LISS database. There are five different categories a respondent could be placed in. If a respondent does have a Dutch background, he/she will be placed in category zero (0). If a respondent is a first-generation immigrant with a western background, he/she will be placed in category 101. Category 102 consists of people who are first-generation immigrants, with a non-western background. Category 201 consists of people who are second-generation immigrants, with a western background. If a respondent is placed in category 202 this means that he/she is a second-generation immigrant with a non-western background of these individuals is unclear.

5.2 Descriptive Results

Table 5.1 presents the descriptive statistics. Looking at this table, in general the average expected retirement age lies at 65.96. Without excluding some interesting observations, the minimum expected retirement age was 6, which is an unlikely age to retire. An explanation for this low age can be a typing error or that the respondent meant that she (in this case) would retire 6 years earlier than the statutory retirement age. To make sure that this outlier does not

influence the results, it was excluded from the dataset. Within in the dataset, all observations that indicate a retirement age below their current age are dropped. The total of 6 observations were removed from the dataset. The results without the outliers are visible in table 5.1. As this table shows, the minimum expected retirement age is 50. The maximum expected retirement age is at age 100. Figure 5.1 shows the different average expected retirement ages per birthyear cohort.

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard deviation
Expected retirement age	6,465	50	100	65.96	3.55
Statutory retirement age	8,561	65	68.9	67.33	1.15
Age	8,559	45	61	50.89	3.86
Partner	8,559	0	1	0.77	0.42
Gross income (in euro's)	8,559	0	35,000	1988.05	21157.9
Net income (in euro's)	8,555	0	25,000	1788.14	1134.68
Education level (with diploma)	8,559	1	9	3.99	1.38

Table 5.1: Descriptive Statistics



Figure 5.1: Average expected retirement age per birthyear

Generally, looking at figure 5.1 a rising trend is visible, although some fluctuations are happening over the years. This rising trend is as expected, since the statutory retirement age is higher for people who are born later. However, noticeable is how this average rising trend is interrupted in birthyear 1966. Finding an explanation for this interruption is not very straightforward. This birthyear is not heavily dependent on outliers, since both 1965 (713 observations) and 1967 (525 observations) have roughly the same number of observations as in 1966 (620 observations). Aside the number of observations, also economic trends do not heavily differ for this group (MacroTrends, n.d.). Further research will be necessary to see why people born in 1966, on average, expect to retire earlier compared to people born before and after them.

Besides the remarkable result in 1966, it is also interesting to look at the difference between 1973 and 1974. The average expected retirement age of people born in 1974 is about 0,75 years lower than for people born in 1973. Again, this result is hard to explain. The only difference is that for people born in 1973 the statutory retirement age did not change in the reform starting in 2016, where the statutory retirement age for people born in 1974 dropped by 3 months (see table 2.2 and table 2.3).

The average expected retirement age can also be shown in the different questionnaire years (figure 5.2). This figure shows the average expected retirement age without taking the statutory retirement age in mind.



Figure 5.2: Average expected retirement age per questionnaire year

Within figure 5.2 an interesting effect is visible. Looking at the difference in 2012 and 2013, we see a big change. The average expected retirement age increases by a lot. Looking at the difference between 2015 and 2016, when the next reform took place, there is almost no change visible. Looking more closely, the figure even shows a decrease in 2016, but increases in 2017 (where no reforms were introduced). Also comparing 2013 and 2016 does not show a remarkable increase even though the reform came with an increase in the statutory retirement age. In conclusion, interesting is the difference between the reform in 2013 and 2016, in that in

2013 the average expected retirement age increased by a lot, however the reform in 2016 did not lead to a big change.

Looking at table 5.1, it shows that on average, more respondents have a partner (0.77). But because the standard deviation is more than half of the average, this average number is not really reliable. The last result that table 5.1 shows is the variable education level with diploma or certificate. Most respondents in this sample graduated from MBO. This means that on average this sample attended higher education after finishing high school.

5.3 Empirical Strategy

The goal of this study is to identify an effect on the expected retirement age of people between age 45 and age 61 based on the announced policy reform in the statutory retirement age. In the main analysis the following specification is used in the Fixed Effect Regression Model:

$$Y_{it} = \alpha + \beta Z_{it} + \gamma X_{it} + P_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(5)

In this specification, Y stands for the expected retirement age, given a person i and time t. α is a constant. Z_{it} represents the variable 'statutory retirement age' and β is the effect of changes in the statutory retirement age on the expected retirement age. P_i stands for the person-specific characteristics that are stable over time, such as personality and gender. X_{it} indicates the control variables and ε_{it} is the error term. The control variables consisted of a dummy variable for having a partner (indicated as 1) or not having a partner (indicated as 0), and the variables 'age' (that indicates the age of a respondent in the year of the questionnaire) and 'wave' (that indicates the year of the questionnaire).

6. Results

6.1 Main results

In order to test the hypothesis, different regressions are performed. Table 6.1 presents the regression results, using equation 5, for change in expected retirement age when the statutory retirement age changes. Model 1 shows this regression result for the dataset as a whole.

Variable	Model 1 Fixed effect regression
Statutory Retirement Age	0.253*** (0.048)
Partner (1 = yes)	-0.655*** (0.263)
Age	0.175 (0.252)
Wave	-0.145 (0.248)
Constant	331.79
R ²	0.0164
Note:	*P < 0.1 **P < 0.05 ***P < 0.01

Table 6.1: Fixed effect regression on expectations

Looking at model 1, a positive relationship is visible between the statutory retirement age and the expected retirement age. If the statutory retirement age increases by one year, the expected retirement age increases by three months (0.253). This result is statistically significant at the 0.01 percent level, meaning that the result is highly reliable. For policymakers this result is very interesting, since an increase by one year will not, on average, lead to an increase by one year of the expected retirement age. This means that, on average, people will retire later than before the reform but not for all of them this will be at the new statutory retirement age. There are still people who expect to retire earlier and therefore go into the inactive group earlier than desirable by the policymakers.

The variable '*Partner*' also shows a statistically significant result, at a 0.01 percent level. This variable is negatively correlated with the expected retirement age. This means that if you have a partner, your expected retirement age will decrease by almost eight months (-0.655). So having a partner can have a big influence on the retirement age. This reflects what was suggested in the theory section earlier as '*joint retirement desire*'.

Remarkable is the fact that the variable '*age*' is not statically significant. So, your age does not influence your expected retirement age. This is interesting because you can imagine that the older you get the lower your expected retirement age will be since you are closer to the eligible age of retirement. But this result suggests that no matter how far away you are from the eligible age, it will not influence your expected retirement age.

The last result in model 1 is the result of the variable 'wave' (The year of the questionnaire). This variable does not show a significant result meaning that the year of the questionnaire did not influence your expected retirement age. Looking at the difference in economic status of the Netherlands, this can be an unexpected result. The Great Recession that lasted from 2008 till 2013 also hit the Netherlands (CPB, 2014). The unemployment rose rapidly, which led to job insecurity. Theory suggested that people would have acted upon these

changes in expectations, and with insecurity the expected retirement age increased. The result in model 1 would suggest this because the higher the year, the lower the expected retirement age becomes, but since this result is not significant, it can be based on coincidence.

6.2 Additional results

To assess if the effects calculated by model 1 differ for subgroups, we estimate equation 5 separately. These subgroups are; *Men* (model 2), *Women* (model 3), *Low and High Education* (models 4 and 5), and for a *Dutch or a migration background* (models 6 and 7).

6.2.1. Gender

Table 6.2 shows the results for men (model 2) and women (model 3). Both for men and for women there is a positive relationship between the statutory retirement age and the expected retirement age. More interestingly, both subgroups also show almost the same result with the same statistical significance level at 0.01 percent. Men do have a slightly bigger coefficient than women. Where for men the expected retirement age increases by 94 days if the statutory retirement age is increased by one year, for women we see a result of an increase by 88 days. So, the difference between men and women is 6 days. Because of this small difference you can conclude that gender does not have an influence if we look at the effect of an increase in statutory retirement age on the expected retirement age. This increase for both men and women is comparable with the results of the general fixed effect regression (model 1).

Another interesting result is the difference between men and women and the role of the partner. Where changes in the statutory retirement age did not lead to changes between men and women in the expected retirement age, difference in having a partner does result in difference between men and women. Looking at model 2 we do see a positive but really small insignificant result. A positive result means that having a partner will lead to an increase in the

expected retirement age of men. But since it is not statistically significant the result means that it can be both ways. So, the conclusion based on this result is that for men having or not having a partner does not influence the expected retirement age, however for women this result is highly statistically significant at the 0.01 percent level. Moreover, this result is also negative. This means that, for women, having a partner will lead to a decrease of the expected retirement age of 16 months. Having a partner has a greater effect on the expected retirement age than changes in the statutory retirement age for women. A reason for the difference between men and women can be the joint retirement. In the study done by Smith & Moen (1998) it was found that women tend to start retirement more in line with their husbands than the other way around. If women are younger than their spouses, this could explain the negative relationship that is significant for women and the insignificant result for men.

The other variables included in this regression are both for men as well as for women statistically insignificant. This is comparable with the results from model 1, meaning that both the year of the questionnaire and the age of a respondent do not have a significant influence on the expected retirement age.

Variable	Model 2	Model 3
	Men	W Omen
Statutory Retirement Age	0.257***	0.241***
	(0.070)	(0.062)
Partner $(1 = yes)$	0.011	-1.341***
	(0.405)	(0.032)
Age	0.303	-0.012
	(0.365)	(0.332)
Wave	-0.275	0.047
	(0.361)	(0.328)
Constant	587.89	-43.60
\mathbb{R}^2	0.0123	0.0316
Note:	*P < 0.1	**P < 0.05 ***P < 0.01

Table 6.2: Fixed effect regression on expectations for Men and Women

6.2.2 Education level

As has been discussed in chapter 3, education can also play a role. Therefore, there will be two subgroups in education level. The first group (model 4) consists of people who responded to the question about their education level between 1 and 3, 8 or 9. This means that the highest achieved education for this group is HAVO, VWO and HBS (high school level). This group is called 'Lower Education'. The second group (model 5) consists of people that indicated they graduated from some sort of higher education (answered 4, 5 or 6 in the questionnaire). This means that a respondents' highest education he or she graduated from is MBO, HBO or University. This group is labeled 'Higher Education'. Table 6.3 shows the results.

Variable	Model 4	Model 5
	Lower education	Higher education
Statutory Retirement Age	0.274***	0.244***
	(0.089)	(0.057)
Partner $(1 = yes)$	-1.519***	-0.336
· · ·	(0.507)	(0.313)
Age	-0.151	0.296
	(0.472)	(0.298)
Wave	0.163	-0.261
	(0.467)	(0.294)
Constant	-272.41	560.54
R ²	0.0223	0 0194
IX	0.0225	0.017
Note:	*P < 0.1	**P < 0.05 ***P < 0.01

Table 6.3: Fixed effect regression on expectations for Lower and Higher Education

Like in model 1, 2 and 3, it appears that in model 4 and model 5 both age and wave are not significant. Even though models 4 and 5 show a contradictory direction, you cannot say something about this result because it can be based on coincidence. Looking at Lower education, we see a positive relationship between the statutory retirement age and the expected retirement age. By increasing the statutory retirement age by one year, the expected retirement age will increase with 100 days, or slightly more than three months (0.274). This result is highly statistically significant at the 0.01 percent level. The same goes for Higher Education. With a statistically significant level of 0.01 percent, the result is reliable. Higher education shows a positive relationship between the statutory retirement age and the expected retirement age. If the statutory retirement age increases by one year, the expected retirement age increases by three months (0.244), almost the same result as for lower education. With this similar result, a conclusion can be that education level does not generally influence the decision when to retire, because both groups do not differ massively from one another. For the variable *partner* we do see a different result. Where for Higher education, this dummy is not significant, for Lower education this variable is. For people in the group of lower education, having a partner will lead to a decrease of 1,5 years in expected retirement age. With a confidence level of 0.01 percent this result is really reliable. A reason why this result differs can be that lower educated people can rely more on the income of their partner, which makes it possible to retire earlier than people who cannot rely on a partner. Higher educated people tend to rely more on their own income, which can explain why the partner dummy is not significant, and therefore generally not relevant for the retirement decision.

6.2.3 Dutch or Migration Background

The last subgroup that is calculated is the background of respondents. The first group (model 6) consists of respondents that indicate that they have a Dutch background. The second group (model 7) contains all the respondents who answered the question otherwise. People that did not answer the question about their background are not taken into account. Table 6.4 shows the results of the regression of these subgroups.

Looking at model 6, we see two statistically significant results for statutory retirement age and partner. 'Statutory retirement age' shows a positive relationship of 0.264 at a significant level of 0.01 percent. This result indicates that if the statutory retirement age increases by one year, the expected retirement age will increase by about 96 days (or about 3 months). Compared to the main results, this number is somewhat higher. Additionally, compared to the other subgroups calculated in this paper, this result is also slightly higher. When we look at the relationship between statutory retirement age and migration background (model 7), we do not indicate a statistically significant result. Although the direction is still positive, this number is not reliable. A reason why this result can be insignificant is because, as explained in chapter 2,

you have to meet certain demands in order to get a state pension (pillar 1). Especially for people from the first- generation immigrant group it can be possible that they did not meet these criteria and therefore are more dependent on pension received from the second and third pillar than on the first pillar. However, this does not give an explanation for second generation immigrants and is based on speculation. In order to look for an explanation further research is necessary.

Variable	Model 6	Model 7
	Dutch background	Migration background
Statutory Retirement Age	0 0 / 1 * * *	0.160
	0.264***	0.169
	(0.052)	(0.127)
Partner $(1 = yes)$	-0.692***	-0.174
	(0.281)	(0.867)
Age	0.269	-0.219
	(0.281)	(0.583)
Wave	-0 242	0 295
	(0.277)	(0.575)
Constant	504 10	520.05
	524.18	-528.85
\mathbb{R}^2	0.0169	0.0168
Note:	*P < 0.1	**P < 0.05 ***P < 0.01

Table 6.4: Fixed effect regression on expectations for Dutch and Migration Background

The variable 'partner' shows a negative relationship between having a partner and the expected retirement age for both model 6 and 7. Having a Dutch background and a partner leads to a decrease in the expected retirement age of more than 8 months, or about 253 days. Compared to the main regression (model 3), this is roughly the same. But having a Dutch

background and a partner does have less effect on the expected retirement age than for example women or people with a lower education level that have a partner, where the effect can be a decrease of more than a year. When a respondent has a non-Dutch background, the result becomes statistically insignificant.

6.3 Interpretation of the results

The results of the fixed effect regression show a positive effect of changes in the statutory retirement age on the expected retirement age for people between 45 and 61. In every model where the fixed effect regression is used roughly the same outcome is presented, this result can be interpreted as robust. Increasing the statutory retirement age will increase the expected retirement age for men, women, people with a Dutch background, lower education levels and higher education levels. Only for people with a different background than Dutch, we cannot say this with certainty. This result is in line with the research done by De Grip, Fouarge and Monitzaan (2013).

Looking at the variable 'partner' we see an overall negative effect on the retirement decision. Having a partner will decrease the expected retirement age. Noticeable is the influence on women (model 3) and lower educated people (model 4), where the decrease is more than a year. The overall result of having a partner on the expected retirement age is in line with the theory discussed in chapter 3 that suggested 'joint retirement'.

When comparing model 4 and 5 - the difference between lower and higher educated people - theory suggested that people with a lower education level do not really change their behavior when reforms are taking place, and that people with a higher educated level are better informed and therefore increase their expected retirement age. Looking at the results we, firstly, do see a significant effect for people with a lower education level, which is against theoretical expectations. Secondly, we see a similar result between lower educated people and higher

educated people. So, the results from model 4 and 5 do not confirm the expectations based on previous theories. A possibility for this outcome is that lower educated people can still have a high financial literacy, and people with a high education level have a low financial literacy. Therefore, only looking at the education level cannot completely suffice for the status of the financial literacy of people. To solve this problem, you can include a question in the monthly/yearly questionnaire to test for the financial literacy of people.

7. Conclusion & Discussion

7.1 Conclusion

Retirement is something we all have to deal with sooner or later. When to retire is dependent on a whole range of factors. This paper has examined the effect of policy changes on individual behavior, focusing in particular on the different reforms in The Netherlands in the last decade, through which the statutory retirement age increased. How do people react to such a policy? And is the policy change effective? In order to measure the impact, the following research question was central in this paper:

What is the effect of increases in the statutory retirement age on retirement expectations?

As a follow-up to the research done by De Grip, Fouarge and Montizaan (2013), this paper used more recent data, a panel dataset and a different empirical approach to examine the effects. By using a fixed effect regression instead of an OLS regression, it was possible to control for personal characteristics that do not change over time. The expectation was to identify a positive effect of the statutory retirement age on the expected retirement age of individuals (Hypothesis H1).

The LISS dataset of Dutch Households between 2011 and 2019, at the start of the first reform, and just before a new reform was introduced, was used. This study found that the effect of changes in statutory retirement age on the expected retirement age is highly statistically significant. In every regression, the effect of the statutory retirement age on the expected retirement age was between 0.241 and 0.274. This means that if the statutory retirement age

increases by one year, the expected retirement age for people between 45 and 61 years old in The Netherlands will increase by around 3 months. Because all the regressions show about the same result, it can be concluded that this result is robust.

Besides the main results, this study also shows some additional results that are worth looking into. For example, the subcategories *lower* and *high education levels* showed a similar result. Based on theory, the expectation was that these categories would highlight some differences between the groups. Because lower educated people would be less informed of policy changes and about the consequences of these policy changes, the results were expected to show a lower or neutral coefficient compared to the regression for 'higher education'. But this study does not confirm that interaction. In fact, lower education showed an even higher coefficient than higher education.

Other interesting results are related to the control variable *partner*. For both subcategories' *women* and *lower education*, having a partner does have a big influence on the retirement decision. Both categories show a coefficient of about 1.5, meaning that having a partner can lead to a decrease of the expected retirement age by 1,5 years. This result is bigger than the effect of the reforms on the expected retirement age.

Overall, the general results of the statutory retirement age on the expected retirement age are in line with the results of the research done by De Grip et al (2013). This means that we can conclude that the effect of an increase in the statutory retirement age on the expected retirement age is an increase of three months in the expected retirement age, meaning that the effect is positive and therefore Hypothesis 1 (H1) can be accepted.

7.2 Limitations

As with many studies, this study does have some limitations regarding the analysis. First of all, the number of observations is quite limited. Although this study has far more observations than

in the study of De Grip et al (2013), 8.000 observations is still a limited number. Especially when looking at the representation of young people, the used database did not provide their answers to the question at which age people expect to retire. Therefore, it was not possible to see behavior changes for people below age 40, who can easily change their behavior in reaction to policy reforms. To improve this limitation, it is possible to make this question mandatory in the questionnaire in order to collect more answers from young people, or to include more observations from other databases or countries.

A second limitation of this study is regarding to the variable *migration background*. Due to the lack of specificity on differences in background, it was not possible to split the migration background into their own different categories. Since there can be big differences between first-and second-generation migration and between western and non-western migration, it would be interesting to analyze these potential differences. In the database, however, the number of people with a background other than Dutch were underrepresented. This can be an explanation as to why the coefficient of the effect of the statutory retirement age on the expected retirement age of people with a migration background have to be included into the database.

A last limitation worth mentioning is the fact that current expectations will not always lead to the final behavior regarding to the retirement decision. Although expectations are a pretty good predictor, it can be that behavior eventually is different. Looking at the specific timeline of this study, however, it's difficult to accommodate this specific limitation.

7.3 Recommendations

7.3.1 Future research

Although this study did have some limitations, the analysis provides a good base for future research. Especially the results of the variable *partner* led to some questions that are outside the scope of this study. Therefore, a first recommendation for future research is to explore why the variable 'partner' has such a significantly large effect for women and people with a lower education level. Why does having a partner influence these groups so much, but not for men and people with a higher education level. Is it because people in these groups are more dependent on their spouses or is there a missing variable that could explain this relationship?

A second recommendation for future research is to explore if people do really change their behavior as their expectation would predict, or if in the end people tend to stop working at the new statutory retirement age even though their expectation was that they would go on early retirement. In order to research this, it is necessary to look back at these reforms in about ten to twenty years or to look at reforms done in the past and see if expectations and behavior are similar.

The last recommendation for future research is to include more data from different countries to see if these trends are country specific or a more general trend in for example Europe. Also, it would be possible to compare different countries and different pension systems. In this way, it might be possible to see if a different pension system has similar or different effects on the expectations of people regarding their expected retirement age.

7.3.2. Policy recommendations

Based on the results of this paper, policy makers can use this input to improve policy in a number of ways. Currently in the Netherlands, the social partners and the Dutch Cabinet are (yet) again discussing the latest policy reforms. The results of this study can show that

increasing the statutory retirement age does have some effect on the expected retirement age and therefore on the group of 'active' people. But as the results show, it is not the case that if you increase the statutory retirement age by one year, the expected retirement age will also increase by one year; instead of this it is only an increase of three months. Policy makers therefore have to weigh the advantages and disadvantages of this result.

Increasing the statutory retirement age leads to a lot of resistance in society. Since politicians do have to deal with elections each four years, it is up to the voters if they will understand that increasing the statutory retirement age is necessary to increase the financial sustainability of a country or not. This is not a scientific choice, but a political one.

A second and last policy recommendation is to see if other policy measurements can increase the willingness to work longer (even without increasing the statutory retirement age). This, or together with an increase of the statutory retirement age, could achieve a more effective result. In this study, having a partner is a more dominant factor for the expected retirement age than an increased statutory retirement age. If the reason for this becomes clearer, policy makers can focus on this aspect in order to increase the expected retirement age. This would mean that the 'active' group will become bigger, the old-age dependency ratio will become smaller, and therefore the financial sustainability will be increased.

References

Alessie, R. J., Van Rooij, M., & Lusardi, A. (2011). *Financial literacy, retirement preparation and pension expectations in the Netherlands* (No. w17109). National Bureau of Economic Research.

Allison, P. D. (2009). Fixed effects regression models. SAGE publications.

Altman, M. (2001). A behavioral model of labor supply: casting some light into the black box of income-leisure choice. *The journal of socio-economics*, *30*(3), 199-219

Ando, A., & Modigliani, F. (1963). The" life cycle" hypothesis of saving: Aggregate implications and tests. *The American economic review*, *53*(1), 55-84.

Angrist, J. D., & Pischke, J. S. (2014). *Mastering'metrics: The path from cause to effect*. Princeton University Press.

Atav, T., Jongen, E. L., & Rabaté, S. (2019). *The effects of the increase in the retirement age in the Netherlands*. CPB Netherlands Bureau for Economic Policy Analysis.

Atav, T., Jongen, E., & Rabaté, S. (2020). *De hogere AOW-leeftijd levert de overheid ook netto flink wat op*. ESB.Nu. https://esb.nu/esb/20057094/de-hogere-aow-leeftijd-levert-deoverheid-ook-netto-flink-wat-op

Attanasio, O. P. (1999). Consumption. Handbook of macroeconomics, 1, 741-812.

Auerbach, A. J., & Lee, R. (2006). *Notional defined contribution pension systems in a stochastic context: Design and stability* (No. w12805). National Bureau of Economic Research.

Baars, J., Dillingh, R., Driessen C., Knoef, M., Muns, S., Tielen, M., Van der Meer, H., Van Soest, A., & Van Vuuren, D. (2019). Flexibel met pensioen. *Netspar Occasional*, *2*, 2019.

Barr, N. (2020), Economics of the Welfare State, sixth edition, Oxford University Press

Belastingdienst. (2020, December 18). *Wanneer bereikt u de AOWleeftijd*?https://www.belastingdienst.nl/wps/wcm/connect/bldcontentnl/belastingdienst/prive/ werk en inkomen/pensioen en andere uitkeringen/wanneer bereikt u de aow leeftijd/

Börsch-Supan, A. (2000). Incentive effects of social security on labor force participation: evidence in Germany and across Europe. *Journal of public economics*, *78*(1-2), 25-49.

Bovenberg, L. (2014). Pensioeninnovatie in Nederland en de wereld: Nederland kampioen in pensioen. *TPE-Digitaal*, 8(4), 163-185.

Bovenberg, L., & Uhlig, H. (2008, July). Pension systems and the allocation of
macroeconomic risk. In *NBER International Seminar on Macroeconomics 2006* (pp. 241-344). University of Chicago Press.

Broeders, D., & Ponds, E. H. (2012). Dutch Pension System Reform. A Step Closer to the Ideal System Design. *CESifo DICE Report*, *10*(3), 65-76.

Brown, S., & Taylor, K. (2006). Financial expectations, consumption and saving: a microeconomic analysis. *Fiscal Studies*, *27*(3), 313-338.

Browning, M., & Crossley, T. F. (2001). The life-cycle model of consumption and saving. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *15*(3), 3-22.

Bruil, A., Schmitz, C., Gebraad, J., & Bhageloe-Datadin, R. (2015). *Totale pensioenaanspraken van Nederland in beeld*(No. 02). Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek.

Brunner, J. K. (1996). Transition from a pay-as-you-go to a fully funded pension system: The case of differing individuals and intragenerational fairness. *Journal of Public Economics*, *60*(1), 131-146.

Bucher-Koenen, T., & Lusardi, A. (2011). *Financial literacy and retirement planning in Germany* (No. w17110). National Bureau of Economic Research.

CBS. (n.d.). *Prognose bevolking; kerncijfers, 2017–2060*. https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/cijfers/detail/83783NED?dl=136C1

CentERdata. (n.d.). *About the Panel* | *LISS Panel Data*. LISS Panel. https://www.lissdata.nl/about-panel

Chłoń-Domińczak, A., & Strzelecki, P. (2013). The minimum pension as an instrument of poverty protection in the defined contribution pension system–an example of Poland. *Journal of Pension Economics & Finance*, *12*(3), 326-350.

Clark, R. L., Morrill, M. S., & Allen, S. G. (2012). The role of financial literacy in determining retirement plans. *Economic inquiry*, *50*(4), 851-866.

Conde-Ruiz, J. I., Galasso, V., & Profeta, P. (2013). The Role of Income Effects in Early Retirement. *Journal of Public Economic Theory*, *15*(3), 477-505.

Cooper, R., & John, A. A. (2018). Macroeconomics: Theory Through Applications. CPB. (2011, June). *CPB Notitie: Pensioenakkoord* (No. 2011/17). https://www.cpb.nl/sites/default/files/publicaties/download/cpb-notitie-pensioenakkoord-juni-2011.pdf

CPB. (2014, June). *The Dutch labour market during the Great Recession*. CPB Netherlands Bureau for Economic Policy Analysis.

https://www.cpb.nl/sites/default/files/publicaties/download/cpb-background-document-dutch-labour-market-during-great-recession.pdf

Cui, J., De Jong, F., & Ponds, E. (2011). Intergenerational risk sharing within funded pension schemes. *Journal of Pension Economics & Finance*, *10*(1), 1-29.

Danziger, S., Van Der Gaag, J., Smolensky, E., & Taussig, M. K. (1982). The life-cycle hypothesis and the consumption behavior of the elderly. *Journal of Post Keynesian Economics*, *5*(2), 208-227.

De Grip, A. (2015, February). *Duurzame inzetbaarheid en Pensioenverwachtingen*. Maastricht University.

https://www.maastrichtuniversity.nl/nl/file/7757/download?token=BkOQpl1w

De Grip, A., Fouarge, D., & Montizaan, R. (2013). How Sensitive are Individual Retirement Expectations to Raising the Retirement Age? *De Economist*, *161*(3), 225–251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10645-013-9205-5

De Jager, J. C. (2012, May 29). Voorjaarsnota 2012; Brief regering; Voorjaarsnota 2012, budgettaire kerngegevens, begrotingsakkoord 2013 (lenteakkoord), bugettaire interventies financiële sector, risicomanagement staatsschuld en verticale toelichting. Overheid.nl. https://zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/kst-33280-1.html

De Kruijf, Johan A. M, & De Vries, Michiel S. (2018). Contextualizing the trend from output to outcome measurement: The Dutch pension system. *Public Money & Management, 38*(1), 65-72.

Delavande, A., Giné, X., & McKenzie, D. (2011). Measuring subjective expectations in developing countries: A critical review and new evidence. *Journal of development economics*, *94*(2), 151-163.

Eerste Kamer der Staten-Generaal. (2012, July 11). *Eerste Kamer der Staten-Generaal - Wet verhoging pensioenleeftijd, extra verhoging AOW en flexibilisering ingangsdatum AOW (33.046).* https://www.eerstekamer.nl/wetsvoorstel/33046_wet_verhoging

Feldstein, M. (1997). *Transition to a fully funded pension system: five economic issues* (No. w6149). National Bureau of Economic Research.

Fouarge, D., de Grip, A., & Montizaan, R. (2011). Pensioenverwachtingen en personeelsbeleid. *Verslag van de ROA enquête*.

Gelderblom, A., Collewet, M., & Koning, J. D. (2011). Arbeidsmarkt ouderen. *Rotterdam:* SEOR.

Goda, G. S., Shoven, J. B., & Slavov, S. N. (2010). *Does stock market performance influence retirement expectations?*. Washington, DC: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Goda, G. S., Shoven, J. B., & Slavov, S. N. (2011). What explains changes in retirement plans during the Great Recession?. *American Economic Review*, *101*(3), 29-34.

Godínez-Olivares, H., del Carmen Boado-Penas, M., & Haberman, S. (2016). Optimal strategies for pay-as-you-go pension finance: A sustainability framework. *Insurance: Mathematics and Economics*, *69*, 117-126.

Gradus, R. H. J. M. (2014, January). *Naar een solide en solidair pensioenstelsel. Bouwstenen voor een hervorming*. Wetenschappelijk Instituut voor het CDA. https://d2vry01uvf8h31.cloudfront.net/Organisaties/WI/NAAR_EEN_SOLIDE_EN_SOLIDA IR_PENSIOENSTELSEL.pdf

Hastings, J. S., & Mitchell, O. S. (2011). *How financial literacy and impatience shape retirement wealth and investment behaviors* (No. w16740). National Bureau of Economic Research.

Hemming, R. (1998). Should Public Pensions be Funded? International Monetary Fund.

Henkens, K., van Solinge, H., & van Dalen, H. (2009). Beslissingen rond langer werken: de onzichtbare drempels voor een later pensioen. *Tijdschrift voor HRM*, *3*, 64-79.

Historiek. (2019, July 3). *Algemene Ouderdomswet (AOW) – 'Trekken van Drees.'* https://historiek.net/algemene-ouderdomswet-aow/5966/

Holzmann, R. (2013). Global pension systems and their reform: Worldwide drivers, trends and challenges. *International Social Security Review*, 66(2), 1-29.

Huang, M. (2014). Bubble-like housing boom–bust cycles: Evidence from the predictive power of households' expectations. *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*, *54*(1), 2-16.

Hung, A., Meijer, E., Mihaly, K., & Yoong, J. (2009). Building up, spending down: Financial literacy, retirement savings management, and decumulation.

Johnson, R. W. (2004). *Do spouses coordinate their retirement decisions?* (Vol. 19). Trustees of Boston College, Center for Retirement Research.

Kamp, H. G. J., & Weekers, F. H. H. (2012, June 11). *Kamerstuk 33290, nr. 2 | Overheid.nl > Officiële bekendmakingen*. Overheid.nl. https://zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/kst-33290-2.html

Kleinsma, J., & Wiebes, E. (2014, November 14). *Wijziging van de Algemene Ouderdomswet, de Wet op de loonbelasting 1964 en de Wet verhoging AOW- en pensioenrichtleeftijd in verband met de versnelling van de stapsgewijze verhoging van de AOW-leeftijd | Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal.* Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal. https://www.tweedekamer.nl/kamerstukken/wetsvoorstellen/detail?id=2014Z20768&dossier=34083#activity-2015a00835

Knoef, M. (2020, September 28). *Pensions and Savings* [Slides]. Brightspace. https://brightspace.universiteitleiden.nl/content/enforced/21891-29043012Y 2021 S1/Binder1 pensions BS.pdf

Knoef, M. G., Goudswaard, K. P., Been, J., & Caminada, C. L. J. (2015). Veel variatie in de pensioenopbouw van Nederlandse huishoudens. *Veel variatie in de pensioenopbouw van Nederlandse huishoudens*.

Knoll, M. A. Z. (2011). Behavioral and psychological aspects of the retirement decision. *Social Security Bulletin*, *71*(4), 15-32.

Koolmees, W., & Snel, M. (2019, June 17). *Wijziging van de Algemene Ouderdomswet, de Wet op de loonbelasting 1964, de Wet verhoging AOW- en pensioenrichtleeftijd, de Wet versnelling stapsgewijze verhoging AOW-leeftijd en de Wet tegemoetkomingen loondomein in verband met temporisering van de stapsgewijze verhoging van de AOW-leeftijd (Wet temporisering verhoging AOW-leeftijd)* | *Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal.* Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal. https://www.tweedekamer.nl/kamerstukken/wetsvoorstellen/detail?id=2019Z12290&dossier=35223

Lamla, M. J., & Lein, S. M. (2014). The role of media for consumers' inflation expectation formation. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, *106*, 62-77.

Leibfritz, W., Roseveare, D., Fore, D., and Wurzel, E. (1995), "Ageing Populations, Pension Systems and Government Budgets: How Do They Affect Saving?", OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No. 156, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/333823847807.

Lenski, C. (2020, October 20). *Global Pension Index uncovers impact of COVID-19 on future pensions*. Mercer. https://www.mercer.com/newsroom/global-pension-index-uncovers-impact-of-covid-19-on-future-pensions.html

Li, X., Hurd, M., & Loughran, D. S. (2008). *The characteristics of social security beneficiaries who claim benefits at the early entitlement age* (Vol. 19). Washington, DC: AARP, Public Policy Institute.

MacroTrends. (n.d.). *Netherlands Economic Growth 1960–2021*. Retrieved June 2, 2021, from https://www.macrotrends.net/countries/NLD/netherlands/economic-growth-rate

Manski, C. F. (2004). Measuring expectations. *Econometrica*, 72(5), 1329-1376.

Mathers, C. D., Stevens, G. A., Boerma, T., White, R. A., & Tobias, M. I. (2015). Causes of international increases in older age life expectancy. *The Lancet*, *385*(9967), 540–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(14)60569-9

McDowell, M., Thom, R., Pastine, I., Frank, R., & Beranke, B. (2012). *Principles of Economics* (Third European Edition). New York: United States: McGraw-Hill Education

McGarry, K. (2002). Health and retirement do changes in health affect retirement expectations?. *Journal of Human Resources*, *39*(3), 624-648.

Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid. (2020a, January 21). *Opbouw pensioenstelsel*. Pensioen | Rijksoverheid.nl.

https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/onderwerpen/pensioen/opbouw-pensioenstelsel

Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid. (2020b, July 4). Overeenstemming over uitwerking pensioenakkoord. Nieuwsbericht | Rijksoverheid.nl.

https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/actueel/nieuws/2020/07/04/overeenstemming-over-uitwerking-pensioenakkoord

OECD (2017), "Recent pension reforms", in *Pensions at a Glance 2017: OECD and G20 Indicators*, OECD Publishing, Paris.

OECD. (2020, May). *SF2.1. Fertility rates*. OECD Family Database. https://www.oecd.org/els/family/SF_2_1_Fertility_rates.pdf

Olovsson, C. (2010). Quantifying the risk-sharing welfare gains of social security. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, *57*(3), 364-375.

Orszag, P. R., & Stiglitz, J. E. (2001). Rethinking pension reform: Ten myths about social security systems. *New ideas about old age security*, 17-56.

Øystein Thøgersen. (1998). A Note on Intergenerational Risk Sharing and the Design of Payas-You-Go Pension Programs. *Journal of Population Economics*, 11(3), 373-378.

Petersen, C. (1988). Determinanten van flexibele pensionering. *Economisch-statistische berichten*, 73(3684), 1138-1141.

Quinn, J. F., Burkhauser, R. V., & Myers, D. A. (1990). Passing the torch: The influence of economic incentives on work and retirement.

Rabaté, S., & Rochut, J. (2020). Employment and substitution effects of raising the statutory retirement age in France. *Journal of Pension Economics & Finance, 19*(3), 293-308.

Salm, M. (2010). Subjective mortality expectations and consumption and saving behaviours among the elderly. *The Canadian Journal of Economics*, *43*(3), 1040-1057.

Scherpenzeel, A.C., and Das, M. (2010). "True" Longitudinal and Probability-Based Internet Panels: Evidence From the Netherlands. In Das, M., P. Ester, and L. Kaczmirek (Eds.), *Social and Behavioral Research and the Internet: Advances in Applied Methods and Research Strategies.* (pp. 77-104). Boca Raton: Taylor & Francis

Schnabel, R. (1998). Rates of Return of the German Pay-as-you-go Pension System. *FinanzArchiv/Public Finance Analysis*, 374-399.

SER. (2019, June). *Naar een nieuw pensioenstelsel*. http://content1b.omroep.nl/urishieldv2/127m68379ecc3dd9af9d00607d79b2000000.8f28a488 4d0019c623e0a4da17336f41/nos/docs/050619_pensioenakkoord.pdf

Sinn, H. W. (2000). *Why a funded pension system is useful and why it is not useful* (No. w7592). National Bureau of Economic Research.

Smith, D., & Moen, P. (1998). Spousal Influence on Retirement: His, Her, and Their Perceptions. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *60*(3), 734-744. doi:10.2307/353542

Stam, S. (2010, June 7). *Informatie voor kaderleden* | *Nummer 13, 2010*. VCP. https://www.vcp.nl/informatie-voor-kaderleden-nummer-13-2010/

Stichting van de Arbeid. (2010, June 4). *Pensioenakkoord voorjaar 2010*. https://www.stvda.nl/-/media/stvda/downloads/publicaties/2010/pensioenakkoord-voorjaar-2010.pdf?la=nl&hash=7659E3237000543866884A25B44CA26A

Thaler, R., & Benartzi, S. (2004). Save More Tomorrow[™]: Using Behavioral Economics to Increase Employee Saving. *Journal of Political Economy, 112*(S1), S164-S187. doi:10.1086/380085

Ubink, N. (2020, October 20). *Nederlandse pensioenstelsel voor derde jaar op rij beste ter wereld*. Mercer. https://www.mercer.nl/newsroom/nederlandse-pensioenstelsel-voor-derde-jaar-op-rij-beste-ter-wereld.html

Van den Bosch, F. (1988). De financieringsproblematiek van de AOW in de toekomst. *De toekomst van de AOW, 6, 35-47.*

Van der Cruijsen, C., & Jonker, N. (2019). Pension profile preferences: the influence of trust and expected expenses. *Applied Economics*, *51*(12), 1212-1231.